



REFORMING AMERICA'S IMMIGRATION LAWS

A WOMAN'S STRUGGLE

By Kavitha Sreeharsha, Esq.

JUNE 2010

REFORMING AMERICA'S IMMIGRATION LAWS:

A WOMAN'S STRUGGLE

KAVITHA SREEHARSHA, ESQ.

JUNE 2010

ABOUT SPECIAL REPORTS ON IMMIGRATION

The Immigration Policy Center's Special Reports are our most in-depth publication, providing detailed analyses of special topics in U.S. immigration policy.

ABOUT THE AUTHOR

Kavitha Sreeharsha is a Senior Staff Attorney at Legal Momentum's Immigrant Women Program. Her work focuses on immigration policy advocacy and technical assistance relating to immigrant women issues. As a policy advocate, Kavitha has drafted language and advocated for the passage of state and federal statutes creating protections for trafficking and domestic violence victims. Kavitha successfully spearheaded efforts and coordinated advocacy groups in support of the reauthorization of the Trafficking Victims Protection Act. She also represents practitioners and victims throughout the United States in her role advocating with administrative agencies including the Department of Homeland Security and the Department of Justice. Her advocacy includes co-chairing the Freedom Network (USA), the only human-rights based anti-trafficking coalition in the United States. Kavitha received her J.D. from U.C. Hastings and her B.A. from U.C. Berkeley. She is a recipient of several awards including the 2004 Unity Award from the Coalition of Minority Bar Associations and the 2007 Tanya Nieman Award from Partners Ending Domestic Abuse in San Francisco. Kavitha is based in Washington, D.C.

ABOUT THE IMMIGRATION POLICY CENTER

The Immigration Policy Center, established in 2003, is the policy arm of the American Immigration Council. IPC's mission is to shape a rational national conversation on immigration and immigrant integration. Through its research and analysis, IPC provides policymakers, the media, and the general public with accurate information about the role of immigrants and immigration policy on U.S. society. IPC reports and materials are widely disseminated and relied upon by press and policymakers. IPC staff regularly serves as experts to leaders on Capitol Hill, opinion-makers, and the media. IPC is a non-partisan organization that neither supports nor opposes any political party or candidate for office. Visit our website at www.immigrationpolicy.org and our blog at www.immigrationimpact.com.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author wishes to thank the Immigration Women Program Director, Leslye Orloff, for her contributions to this article, as well as Sameera Hafiz, Soraya Fata, and Rachael Pine of Legal Momentum for the assistance they provided in developing the policy positions discussed in this article.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION
Legal Barriers to Equality in Current Immigration Law5
Immigrant Women Experience Danger Entering the U.S.—and Poor Conditions in the U.S 5
Workforce Inequities6
Exploitation in the Workplace6
Breakdown of Family Structures7
Human Trafficking7
Immigrant Women and Domestic Violence
Women are Distinctly Harmed by Heightened Enforcement of Immigration Laws
The Disproportionate Risk of Local Law Enforcement Partnerships
The Harmful Impact of Immigration Detention on Immigrant Women and their Families 11
CONCLUSION

Introduction

The shifting political landscape has meant that comprehensive immigration reform (CIR) has not yet passed Congress and become law. Furthermore, states and localities are increasingly passing legislation targeting undocumented immigrants, and these laws have had a harmful impact on entire communities. While immigrant communities all over the United States endure the long wait to reform a broken immigration system, immigrant women often remain invisible and forgotten.

Contrary to public discourse which often omits any discussion of women immigrants, nearly half of the foreign-born population in the United States is female. There are nearly 19 million immigrant women and girls. Immigrant women are very diverse in terms of country of origin, age, education, labor force participation, and poverty level. They work tirelessly alongside immigrant men, and in some fields of employment comprise the majority of the labor force. According to a 2005 report by the Immigration Policy Center, 8.3% of employed immigrant women were business owners in 2000, compared to 6.2% of employed native-born women. In addition to the 563,814 immigrant women business owners, 1,054 immigrant women across the United States were CEOs of not-for-profit organizations. At one extreme, many foreign-born women have professional school or doctorate degrees, but there are also many immigrant women who lack even a high school diploma.

Many women, particularly those who are undocumented, are often more vulnerable than their male counterparts and lack the same economic opportunities. Lack of access to higher education, for example, contributes to lower incomes among immigrant women. Immigrant women had a median income of \$21,182 per year in 2008, which was \$3,259 less than that of native-born women, and \$8,351 less than that of foreign-born men. Immigrant women are more likely to experience exploitation while crossing the border, while working, and even in their own homes. Immigrant women are, in fact, the silent victims of the broken immigration system.

Precisely because so many immigrant women suffer in silence, lawmakers can easily overlook the specific reforms necessary to ensure that CIR does not inadvertently create new barriers and establish eligibility criteria that are beyond the reach of some immigrant women. For instance, a CIR package must include a path to legalization that values the contributions of immigrant women as part-time and informal workers. It must recognize that women need independent opportunities to apply for legalization (as opposed to merely deriving it from a spouse or father). It must account for the fact that many immigrant women—who make significant contributions to the workforce—nonetheless have had less formal access to educational and employment opportunities. CIR must also consider the role that women play in immigrant families and as the predominant beneficiaries in the family immigration system. Enforcement measures must be reformed to avoid re-victimizing the most vulnerable immigrants. Without immigration reforms, many immigrant women will continue to lack economic access, experience separation from their families, and be subjected to exploitation and criminal activity.

Legal Barriers to Equality in Current Immigration Law

Women immigrants arrive in the United States from their home country seeking economic opportunity, family reunification and safety. The migration of women is often based on gender inequality in their home countries. Many immigrant women come from societies where women lack equal access to employment opportunities, and many are escaping violence and political instability which make women particularly vulnerable targets. Others come to the United States to join their families, not wanting to raise their children alone. Uniformly, women experience external pressures that in many cases leave them with no viable options but to enter the United States. Yet when women arrive in the United States, they often struggle to achieve the economic opportunity and safety they seek.

From the beginning of the migration process, women are often at a disadvantage. Faced with an employer-sponsorship system that hinges on education, specialized occupational needs, and economic opportunity, women are less likely than men to qualify under the current requirements of employment-based immigration. Many more women immigrate through family sponsorship than as employment-based immigrants. In Fiscal Year (FY) 2009, for instance, 112,694 females obtained legal permanent resident (LPR) status under family-based "preference" categories, compared to 99,165 males. 9 Yet only 69,471 women obtained LPR status through employment-based visas, compared to 74,563 males (and many of them came as derivatives of the principle male visa holder). ¹⁰ But the family immigration system has been fraught with backlogs and burdens that sometimes separate families for more than 20 years. 11 The backlogs force women to wait in their home countries, separated from the sponsoring family member with whom they seek reunification. While separated, many of these women are left as the sole providers in countries where women may lack the same economic and employment opportunities as men. These immigration-processing backlogs create an emotional and financial burden on women and their families even though they will ultimately be eligible to unify with their families in the United States.

Immigrant Women Experience Danger Entering the U.S.—and Poor Conditions in the U.S.

The overburdened family-based system often creates circumstances where women living abroad must choose between waiting in lengthy backlogs or entering the U.S. unlawfully and, in many cases, unsafely. Approximately 4.1 million immigrant women in the U.S. are undocumented. Women outside the United States may risk unsafe and unlawful migration to the United States to reunify with their families, seek economic opportunities, or escape other dangers. Women who migrate unlawfully by crossing the U.S.-Mexico border, for example, are far more vulnerable to unsafe conditions and are particularly at risk for sexual assault. A United Nations representative estimated that 70% of women who cross without spouses or other families are sexually assaulted during the border crossing. Advocates report that women are

encouraged to take birth control pills before traveling across the border in anticipation of the sexual assault. 14

Workforce Inequities

Whether undocumented immigrant women cross the border illegally or enter lawfully and then overstay their visas, the prolonged backlogs in family-based immigration ensure that they may wait years for legal status. Once in the United States, many immigrant families require two incomes to support themselves and their children. Consequently, undocumented immigrant women are left with no choice but to work in the underground economy without work authorization. Without lawful permission to accept employment, undocumented immigrant women work for substandard wages, making 13.2% less than their immigrant male counterparts and 14.4% less than their female U.S.-citizen counterparts. While most civil employment protections are available to undocumented immigrants, fear of deportation prevents many undocumented immigrants from pursuing civil court protections.

Given these limitations, undocumented immigrant women tend to be employed in the informal labor market as domestic workers and caretakers. Many undocumented women provide child, elder, and disabled care; clean and maintain American homes; and provide the labor that fuels the service industry. In short, undocumented immigrant women care for our homes and families, allowing the middle class to pursue more lucrative and productive jobs.

In contrast to many other forms of employment, these work sectors render their workers largely invisible. These women are generally employed by individuals or small businesses and maintain nontraditional and part-time hours. Because they are often single employees or one among a small number of employees in a particular workplace, there is less opportunity to formally organize and assert workers' legal rights. In fact, the number of immigrant women domestic workers unable to organize has led to an increase in national and regional political organizing of domestic workers.¹⁷ These domestic-workers organizations assert that immigrant domestic workers' rights are not protected under current laws.

Exploitation in the Workplace

Lack of a legal immigration status also leads to increased exploitation by unscrupulous employers. Women, in particular, are vulnerable to sexual violence, sexual assault, sexual harassment, and other gender-motivated exploitation in the workplace. Absent any fear that employees will report these actions and crimes, employers continue to take advantage of immigrant women.¹⁸

Even immigrant women who have temporary visas to work for diplomats or in agricultural work experience exploitation in the workplace. These visas tie an immigrant worker's legal status to a particular employer and are not portable to other employment. When immigrant women are restricted to specific employers, the work environment can be rife with abuse. Immigrant women are paid less and have less flexibility and rights within the workplace. The lack of portability (the ability to leave one job for another) means that an immigrant woman must sometimes endure deplorable conditions, elect to leave the employer and violate the terms of

her visa (rendering her effectively without legal immigration status), or return to her home country. Given these choices, most immigrant women end up enduring abuse and deplorable conditions in the workplace.¹⁹

Breakdown of Family Structures

Ironically, the desire to keep families together that leads some women to come to the U.S. without documentation ultimately is undermined by the lack of status itself. Mothers are directly harmed by their lack of legal immigration status. As parents, undocumented mothers seek a multitude of services, but must worry about their lack of immigration status. In Mississippi, Cirila Baltazar Cruz, a Chatino-speaker from Oaxaca, Mexico, who had been working in a Chinese restaurant, gave birth to a baby girl in November 2008. Hospital workers called the State Department of Human Services, who intervened to take away the child claiming that she was an unfit mother because she did not speak English. ²⁰

Such actions on the part of government agencies create fear and apprehension among immigrant women. When a woman's child is taken away from her because she does not speak English, other immigrant women will increasingly be fearful of even going to a hospital to give birth. Immigrant women will fear taking their children to school or utilizing other public resources for fear that they will be reported for not having legal immigration status or for not speaking English. Because immigrant women are often the sole or primary caretakers of children, the fear of separation from their children often prevents them from accessing public resources.

Lack of immigration status also prevents immigrant women from enhancing their economic mobility, further limiting their ability to provide for their families. Undocumented immigrants are unable to qualify for federal financial aid programs, making it difficult for them to pursue higher education. With limited exceptions, undocumented immigrants are also unable to access federal safety-net protections like cash benefits and health-care benefits.²¹ These benefits are aimed at bridging an individual's economic vulnerabilities with employment opportunities through cash benefits and job-training opportunities.

Human Trafficking

A smaller subset of immigrant women are brought into the United States for more extreme exploitation: human trafficking—a form of modern-day slavery. Immigrant women are forced to work in home under lock and key, surveillance, threats of deportation, and physical harm. One such example was the criminal case brought against Varsha and Mahender Sabhani:²²

Varsha and Mahender Sabhani, a wealthy couple living on Long Island, enslaved two women from Indonesia in their house, making them work 18 hour days and then sleep on the floor, physically beating them and cutting them with a knife, and forcing them to eat hot peppers and later eat their vomit from the peppers. The Sabhani's treatment of these women was easily hidden within the house compound.

The numbers of domestic-servitude human-trafficking cases that have emerged in the 10 years since passage of the Trafficking Victims Protection Act suggest that the often misunderstood

crime of human trafficking is occurring in far more cases, hidden from public view. High costs of child care in a suffering economy only increase the likelihood that families will bring someone from another country or hire someone in the United States without a legal immigration status, and will pay them lower wages and subject them to potentially exploitative conditions.

Immigrant Women and Domestic Violence

Both legal and undocumented immigrant women face many challenges related to domestic violence and their ability to obtain relief from abusive spouses. Immigrant women whose legal status is dependent on a spouse often lack economic opportunity and consequently, independence. In some cases, women are dependent upon their U.S.-citizen or LPR spouse to petition for them through the family-based system. In other cases, immigrant women obtain legal immigration status that derives from their spouse's employment-based temporary nonimmigrant visa (such as an H-1B visa). Spouses who receive visas that permit them to come to the United States with their employment-visa-holder spouse are not provided legal work authorization in the majority of cases.²³ Thus, whether legal or undocumented, these immigrant women are often dependant on their lawfully present spouses for financial support and to complete the immigration-sponsorship process.

This leaves a woman on unequal footing and lacking economic independence. In many cases, this economic dependence creates a power and control dynamic that manifests itself in domestic violence. Abusers often take advantage of immigration status to threaten deportation against their spouses.²⁴ The lack of economic options and dependence for legal immigration status upon a spouse with an employment-based visa makes it more difficult for immigrant women to access resources and leave abusive relationships. The case of Shaila illustrates the degree to which the lack of an independent legal status can destroy a woman's life:

Shaila²⁵ came to the United States on an H-4 visa as a derivative of her husband Samir who held an H1B visa and worked at a software company. Samir became abusive when she became pregnant with their first child. Samir beat Shaila badly but when he took her to the hospital, she told the doctor that she was mugged. Shaila knew that her status in the United States depended on Samir maintaining his status. If Samir was arrested, he could lose his job and his visa. She also was worried he would be deported because she knew someone else who was arrested and ended up being deported. Shaila had no options. She could not go back to India pregnant and ashamed of a failed marriage. She also could not leave Samir; she had no work authorization and no way to support herself and her child. Shaila remained with Samir and the violence continued.

Some women who are victims of domestic violence are able to utilize the family-based immigration system to self-petition for status under the Violence Against Women Act (VAWA).²⁶ The self-petitioning model is limited to the spouses of U.S citizens and Lawful Permanent Residents (LPRs). Moreover, the backlogs in the family immigration system also

apply to VAWA cases and force VAWA self-petitioning spouses to wait for up to a year or more to receive employment authorization.

Even a VAWA self-petition grant does not alleviate the personal and financial burdens the immigration system imposes on immigrant women. Successful VAWA self-petitioners receive deferred action and access to employment authorization and are placed on a path to obtaining lawful permanent residence.²⁷ However, deferred action itself is not a type of immigration status, but rather an administrative term of art that places the individual at a lower priority for deportation.²⁸ Approved self-petitioners must also renew their work authorization every year, and even the processing backlogs for employment authorization can cause someone to be terminated for not having a current work authorization.

While VAWA self-petitioners are placed in the family immigration system, subjecting them to the same backlogs as other family immigration beneficiaries, they are still subject to many of the immigration constraints of potentially being barred from reentering the U.S. if they leave.²⁹ The case of Rose Maria illustrates this common barrier for VAWA self-petitioners:

Rosa Maria entered the U.S. with her two children in 1995, joining her husband Ernesto who insisted that she enter unlawfully rather than wait through the family backlogs. For years Ernesto abused her but it took Rosa Maria years to learn about the VAWA self-petition and gain courage to leave Ernesto. Rosa Maria self-petitioned for herself and her children and received deferred action and work authorization. Then her mother became very ill. Rosa Maria desperately wanted to visit her mother and say goodbye in person but was advised that without status, she could be barred from reentering the U.S. for ten years. Rosa Maria decided not to take the risk and was unable to see her mother before she died.

In other cases, victims of domestic violence are ineligible under VAWA, because their abuser is not a U.S.-citizen or LPR spouse or parent. Some victims may obtain a U-visa, which is available to victims of criminal activity who are helpful in the detection, investigation, or prosecution of specified criminal activities including domestic violence, sexual assault, and human trafficking. But immigrant victims' distrust of law enforcement precludes many of them from seeking this protection.

Women are Distinctly Harmed by Heightened Enforcement of Immigration Laws

The Disproportionate Risk of Local Law Enforcement Partnerships

The Department of Homeland Security (DHS) has initiated several local law-enforcement partnerships, including the 287(g) and Securities Communities programs, to increase local law enforcement identification of undocumented immigrants for detention and removal from the United States. While DHS has developed a three-tier system to identify the most dangerous and violent criminals,³¹ there are widespread reports of non-violent criminals being identified and referred to DHS for removal.³² These immigration-enforcement programs can result in

detention and removal of crime victims when abusers call law enforcement and use superior English-language skills to have the victim arrested, while the perpetrators elude arrest. By providing local law enforcement with authority to enforce immigration laws, the program shifts the mission of local policing from community safety to immigration enforcement. These programs encourage law-enforcement agents to prioritize immigration status over crime prevention and crime fighting.

Abusers, traffickers, and exploitative employers keep immigrant women from seeking local law-enforcement protection by convincing them that police officers are working in partnership with DHS and will deport victims instead of protecting them. Essentially, these enforcement measures increase the likelihood of abuse and assault against immigrant women by cutting them off from help and giving their perpetrators a powerful tool to silence their victims and escape prosecution. Immigrant women make unsettling compromises as a result. A domestic violence victim may stay with her abuser rather than calling the police. A teenage girl sexually assaulted at work may remain at that workplace without calling the police or possibly even seeking medical treatment. These programs teach immigrant women that they can no longer seek help from and participate in the criminal justice system.

For those immigrant women who try to buck the odds and seek help from law enforcement, the results can be devastating. For Rita Cote, protecting her sister from domestic violence resulted in her detention and the initiation of removal proceedings. ³³

In Miami in February 2009, Rita Cote's sister called 911 to seek police protection after a domestic violence incident. Ms. Cote's sister had lawful immigration status but had a limited capacity to speak English. Law enforcement agents asked for identification for everyone at the scene. Ms. Cote urged the agents to first address the domestic violence issue but they insisted that Ms. Cote's sister could only press charges by going to the police station. After Ms. Cote showed her passport to the officers the officers arrested her, and took her away. The domestic violence crime went unaddressed.

The effects of not investigating crimes perpetrated against immigrant victims harms not only immigrant women, but all communities. Word spreads quickly in immigrant communities and immigrants fear that reporting a crime to the police will lead to the victim's deportation. Undermining years of efforts to implement community-policing programs, DHS local partnerships create a two-tier society in which immigrant victims have less access to police protection than other community members.

The ease with which crime perpetrators are free to exploit and harm non-U.S. citizens bolsters their confidence and the likelihood they will perpetrate crimes against others in the community. When immigrant victims are deterred from reporting crimes, perpetrators are not held accountable for their crimes. A perpetrator who victimizes an undocumented immigrant is just as capable of committing the same crime against a U.S. citizen. For the many crimes that are serial in nature, failure to investigate crimes increases the number of community members at risk of crime victimization.

The Harmful Impact of Immigration Detention on Immigrant Women and their Families

When immigrant women are apprehended and detained, their vulnerability increases. Detention often removes access to services and legal relief necessary for immigrant women to protect their children, access services, and reduce trauma. For single parents, the detention separates immigrant women from their children, often with devastating effects. Immigrant mothers are losing custody of their children when state courts issue rulings that unconstitutionally separate immigrant mothers from their children.

Maria Luis was deported back to Guatemala while her children were placed in foster care in Nebraska. Maria Luis was arrested and detained for not having lawful immigration status in the U.S. Separated from her children, a Nebraska family court provided her with a reunification plan. However, because she was not provided interpretation in her language of Quiche, she did not understand the terms of compliance and could not comply because of her detention. Her parental rights were terminated. Maria Luis was ordered removed from the United States and her children were placed in foster care. Ultimately, the Nebraska Supreme Court reversed the family court decision and Maria Luis was allowed to temporarily return to the United States in order to be reunified with her children.³⁴

Similarly, when domestic-violence victims are detained, the children are often left in the care of the abusive party. In another situation, in a 287(g) jurisdiction, an undocumented victim's child was left with her abusive boyfriend, while she was put in immigration detention.

Marisol had been living with her boyfriend who had become abusive. After being pushed against the wall and repeatedly beaten, she scratched him to try to get away and later was able to call the police. The police did not provide an interpreter and Marisol and her boyfriend were arrested. Marisol had an immigration detainer placed on her while her U.S. Citizen boyfriend was released. While Marisol was being detained, her baby stayed with her boyfriend.³⁵

In another case, an attorney reported that while her client was being detained, her abuser kicked her teenage son out of the home and he became homeless.

Finally, given the vulnerability and likelihood of domestic violence, rape, and escape from torture and/or violence in their home countries, immigration detention amplifies trauma and exacerbates the mental-health needs of survivors.³⁶ Detention facilities do not yet adequately address the comprehensive mental-health needs of female detainees.³⁷

Conclusion

The current dialogue about immigration reform focuses on the efforts to protect all undocumented immigrants. Yet immigrant women's experiences remain on the periphery of the debate, and the unique experiences and compromises faced by immigrant women are often forgotten. Many immigrant women are separated from their families by borders, and cannot reunite due to U.S. immigration backlogs. Many immigrant women are victims of violence whose likelihood of victimization is enhanced by a system that disadvantages them. Many immigrant women are low-wage workers with less opportunity for upward mobility and less legal protections. Many immigrant women are the silent victims of a broken system.

Immigration reform efforts must take into account and address women's unique struggles and equally value immigrant women's contributions to American society. Immigrant women need true equal access to legalization opportunities. Comprehensive immigration reform legislation including gender-neutral language must be written to ensure that immigrant women truly benefit from immigration reforms to the same extent as immigrant men. To do this, CIR should:

- Per Create a path to legalization that equitably values women's work: Avenues for legalization that value work must recognize and 'count' the range of immigrant women's work in the informal economy such as domestic work, child care, and home health care. Part-time and contract work, as well as work for multiple employers, must count toward legalization. Because many recent legalization proposals have required full-time employment or schooling, they fail to take into account the unique barriers faced by many undocumented women. Legalization fee structures must ensure incentives for immigrant families to apply for legal immigration status for all eligible family members. High fees may limit the number of applications a family can afford, resulting in applications only being filed by and for male heads-of-household. Fees must be on a sliding scale so that they are not cost-prohibitive for low-wage women workers.
- ▶ Promote family reunification and reduce family visa backlogs: Social constraints and lack of access to capital generally result in immigrant women disproportionately immigrating through family-based channels compared to men. However, long backlogs and bureaucratic delays exacerbate immigrant women's vulnerability, heightening women's dependency on partners and increasing the likelihood of exploitation by family members and employers. Measures to promote family reunification and reduce backlogs will thus particularly benefit immigrant women.
- ➤ Improve personal security and autonomy by expanding access to independent immigration status: Immigrant women's economic security is enhanced when they can independently obtain legal immigration status. Independent immigration status can also facilitate personal security and physical safety. When women attain legal status based upon a family relationship, other family members gain control over whether she ever attains legal status. This dynamic can jeopardize women's autonomy and safety. Immigration reform must create avenues through which more immigrant women can directly file family-based visa applications on their own behalf.

- Eliminate local law-enforcement partnerships such as 287(g) and Secure Communities: These partnerships result in undocumented immigrant women being drawn into the immigration-enforcement system as victims and witnesses of domestic violence and other crimes. Immigrant mothers and working women, who must drive to their children's school and to work, are stopped by police and arrested for driving without a license. Crime perpetrators, abusive spouses, and abusive and exploitative employers call DHS to report undocumented immigrant victims for deportation. This very effective power-and-control tactic silences crime victims and keeps them from seeking help. Finally, victims lack meaningful language access and knowledge about their legal rights and often end up arrested as crime perpetrators through the manipulation of abusive spouses and family members.
- Reform the immigration-detention system in order to not re-victimize vulnerable immigrant women detainees. Such reforms must include meaningful access to health services. All detainees should be screened and undergo a risk assessment that evaluates vulnerable immigrants such as crime victims, pregnant women, sole caretakers, and those with health conditions so that they can be allowed to seek alternatives to detention, humanitarian release, or release on their own recognizance.

Ensuring that immigrant women can overcome traditional immigration barriers will not only enable more women to succeed in their new lives, but will also ensure that comprehensive immigration reform is truly comprehensive and addresses the needs created by the broken immigration system.

Endnotes

¹ 2008 American Community Survey.

² 2008 American Community Survey.

³ Susan Pearce, <u>Today's Immigrant Woman Entrepreneur</u> (Washington, DC: Immigration Policy Center, American Immigration Law Foundation, January 2005).

⁴ 2008 American Community Survey.

⁵ See generally Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Division for the Advancement of Women, United Nations, <u>2004</u> World Survey on the Role of Women in Development, 2006.

⁶ Ibid.

⁷ Ibid.

⁸ Ibid.

⁹ Office of Immigration Statistics, Department of Homeland Security, 2009 Yearbook of Immigration Statistics, <u>Table 9</u>.

¹⁰ Ibid

¹¹ The June 2010 visa bulletin published monthly by the U.S. Department of State indicates that the backlogs for family members ranges from 2.5 to 22 years depending on the country of origin, family relationship, and the petitioner's status as either a U.S. citizen or a Lawful Permanent Resident. See U.S. Department of State, <u>Visa Bulletin for June 2010</u>, Number 21, Volume IX.

¹² Jeffrey S. Passel and D'Vera Cohn, <u>A Portrait of Unauthorized Immigrants in the United States</u> (Washington, DC: Pew Hispanic Center, April 14, 2009), p. 4.

¹³ Tim Vanderpol, "<u>Price of Admission</u>," *Tucson Weekly*, June 5, 2008. *See also* Human Rights Watch, <u>Detained and Dismissed</u>, March 2009, p. 54.

¹⁴ Ibid.

¹⁵ 2008 American Community Survey.

¹⁶ 32.9% of female immigrant workers were employed by service industries, including domestic work (2009 Current Population Survey).

¹⁷ Groups like Damayan, Andolan, Domestic Workers United, and others have emerged as local and national organizing groups, bringing together the voices of domestic workers who often work for employers in isolation from other workers.

²¹ Personal Responsibility and Work Opportunity and Reconciliation Act of 1996 (PRWORA), Pub. L. 104-193 §431 (1996).

²² Varsha and Maheder Sabhnani were charged with multiple criminal counts including forced labor. They were convicted on all counts. *United States v. Sabhnani*, No. 07-CR-429, 2007 WL 2769487 (E.D.N.Y. Sept. 21, 2007).

²³ For example, spouses of H1-B specialty occupation visa holders are not permitted to lawfully accept employment. If she worked without permission, she would jeopardize her status. Working without status in many cases would prevent her from being able to ultimately become a permanent resident through the employer sponsorship of her spouse.

²⁴ The Violence Against Women Act immigration provisions were created to allow immigrant victims of domestic violence to be able to obtain independent immigration status. H.R. Rep. No. 103-395, at 26.

²⁵ In order to maintain confidentiality, the author has substituted the true name of the victim with the pseudonym Shaila.

²⁶ I.N.A. §204(a)(1)(A)(iii) and (B)(2); 8 U.S.C. §1154(a)(1)(A)(iii) and (B)(2).

²⁷ INA §204(a)(1)(A)(iii) and (vi); 8 USC §1154(a)(1)(A)(iii) and (vi).

²⁸ 8 C.F.R. §274a.12(c)(14).

²⁹ INA §212(a)(9)(B); 8 USC §1182 (a)(9)(B).

³⁰ In the case of elder abuse, the abuser would need to be the over 21 year old citizen son or daughter of the victim.

³¹ Performance of 287(g) Agreements, Office of the Inspector General, Department of Homeland Security at 7 (March 2010).

32 Ibid

³³ Press Release, American Civil Liberties Union, "<u>Family is Torn Apart After Police Responding to Domestic Assault Call Ignore Assault, Arrest Mother of Three Instead,"</u> February 23, 2009.

³⁴ In re Angelica L. and Daniel L. v. Maria L., 277 Neb. 984 (2009).

³⁵ In order to maintain confidentiality, the author has substituted the true name of the victim with the pseudonym Marisol.

³⁶ See generally University of Arizona, <u>Unseen Prisoners: A Report on Women in Immigration Detention Facilities in Arizona</u>, January 2009.

³⁷ See generally Human Rights Watch, <u>Detained and Dismissed</u>, March 2009, p. 54.

³⁸ Maria Shriver and the Center for American Progress, *The Shriver Report: A Woman's Nation Changes Everything* (Oct.16, 2009) (Women are nearly half of all U.S. workers and mothers are the primary breadwinners or co-breadwinners in nearly two-thirds of American families. This is a dramatic shift from just a generation ago - in 1967 women made up only one-third of all workers - and a permanent cultural change.)

³⁹ When foreign born women are dependent upon their citizen husbands to attain legal immigration status the domestic abuse rate for these women reaches 59.5%. Giselle Aguilar Hass, Nawal Ammar, and Leslye Orloff, <u>Battered Immigrants and U.S.</u>
Citizen Spouses (New York, NY: Legal Momentum, April 24, 2006).

¹⁸ National Council of La Raza, <u>Fractures in the Foundation</u> (Washington, DC: May 2009). See generally Amanda Clark, A Hometown Dilemma: Addressing the Sexual Harassment of Undocumented Women in Meatpacking Plants in Iowa and Nebraska, 16 Hastings Women's L.J. 139 (2004); Maria L. Ontiveros, <u>Lessons From the Field: Female Farm Workers and the Law, 55 Me. L. Rev. 157 (2003).</u>

¹⁹ See e.g. Amanda Clark, A Hometown Dilemma: Addressing the Sexual Harassment of Undocumented Women in Meatpacking Plants in Iowa and Nebraska, 16 Hastings Women's L.J. 139 (2004); Maria L. Ontiveros, Lessons From the Filed: Female Farm Workers and the Law, 55 Me. L. Rev. 157 (2003).

Tim Padgett, et. al., "Can a Mother Lose Her Child Because She Doesn't Speak English?" *Time*, August 27, 2009. But see *In re Angelica L.*, 767 N.W. 2d at 92 June 26, 2009. A unanimous Nebraska Supreme Court ruling confirming the constitutional rights of undocumented, detained and deported immigrant parents in the context of termination of parental rights proceedings, the Supreme Court of Nebraska unanimously ruled: "We have explained that the interests of parents in the care, custody, and control of their children is perhaps the oldest of the fundamental liberty interests recognized by the U.S. Supreme Court. Accordingly, before the State attempts to force a breakup of a natural family, over the objections of the parents and their children, the State must prove parental unfitness....[t]he 'best interests' standard is subject to the overriding presumption that the relationship between parent and child is constitutionally protected and that the best interests of a child are served by reuniting the child with his or her parent. This presumption is overcome only when the parent has been proved unfit."

21 Personal Responsibility and Work Opportunity and Reconciliation Act of 1996 (PRWORA), Pub. L. 104-193